

Highways Committee

Date Monday 3 September 2012

Time 10.00 am

Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

- 1. Minutes of the meetings held on 22 June and 12 July 2012 (Pages 1 10)
- 2. Declarations of interest, if any
- 3. Application for Village Green Registration Belle Vue, Consett Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Pages 11 42)
- 4. Bus Shelter 10 Foster Terrace, Croxdale (Pages 43 54)
- 5. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Colette Longbottom

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall Durham 23 August 2012

To: The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor G Bleasdale (Chair) Councillor J Robinson (Vice-Chair)

Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, D Burn, N Foster, D Hancock, S Hugill, D Marshall, J Maslin, A Naylor, J Shiell, P Stradling, T Taylor, L Thomson, R Todd, E Tomlinson, J Turnbull, C Woods, A Wright and R Young

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 0191 383 3861



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of **Highways Committee** held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on **Friday 22 June 2012 at 10.00 am**

Present:

Councillor G Bleasdale in the Chair

Members of the Committee:

Councillors J Robinson (Vice-Chairman), B Arthur, S Hugill, D Marshall, A Naylor, J Shiell, P Stradling, L Thomson, R Todd, E Tomlinson, J Turnbull and A Wright

Apologies:

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Bainbridge, D Burn, D Hancock, T Taylor, C Woods and R Young

1 Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 May 2012 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

2 Declarations of Interest

Councillor J Robinson declared an interest in relation to Item No. 3 on the agenda, as the Local Member for Sedgefield

3 Hardwick Park - Proposed Parking Charges - Off-Street Parking Places Order 2012

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood Services which sought to introduce parking charges at Hardwick Park, Sedgefield and outlined representations made during the consultation period (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Strategic Manager for Countryside provided the Committee with the background of Hardwick Country Park, an 18th Century, Grand II listed site which was the fourth biggest tourist attraction in the North East. Based on 2011 monitoring figures the park had attracted 447,000 annual visitors.

9,655 people had attended organised events, 3900 school children had attended for staff led sessions and there had been 531 days of volunteer support. A substantial amount of restoration had taken place at the park which included new paths, restoration of lakes and a new visitor centre. The park was used for fun days out for families, school visits, guided walks, park runs, cycling events and vintage car rallies (for presentation see file of Minutes).

The Committee were informed that regrettably, considerable budgetary pressures were significantly affecting the management of the park. The introduction of parking charges had been identified as a substantial income generator which would specifically provide funds for the park's management. Consultation with other local authorities had indicated that many local authorities had implemented parking charges on countryside sites as a result of recent budgetary cuts.

Unfortunately, failure to generate income would result in a reduced standard of maintenance, at least three redundancies, the loss of the park's historical and environmental education as well as a guided walks programme.

A summary of the proposed charges was outlined to the Committee. The charges would assist the Council in maintaining the park to high standards and provide a safe and accessible environment for all visitors. Over and above that there was a strong desire to invest in education through increasing educational provision with the offer of more diverse sessions to schools. There was also a potential to increase volunteering opportunities, provide new events and activities, such as birthday parties and larger events, increase the café space, improve outdoor seating and create a new play area focusing on natural play.

A summary of those representations made during the consultation process was provided.

Councillor Robinson, one of the local members for Sedgefield, commented that Hardwick Park was the 'jewel in the crown' of Sedgefield and he spoke on behalf of the many residents and groups that had contacted him with regard to the proposals and highlighted some of the concerns outlined by his constituents, which included:

- the affects of the charges on local people from Segefield, Bishop Middleham and Fishburn who used the park to exercise their dogs, twice a day was difficult to comprehend and felt that some consideration should have been given for a reduced charge for this type of activity;
- concerns expressed by the Town Council in relation to the consultation process;
- concerns expressed about the impact parking charges on the park-run;
- the one-off payment of £50.00 which equated to a cheaper parking charge needed to be advertised properly;
- the viability of the café;
- what would happen to Hardwick Park if the targets identified in the MTFP weren't met;
- potential parking overspill to the Hardwick Hotel;
- had the Council had considered the potential problem of cars parking on the A177 bypass.

In response to Councillor Robinson the Strategic Manager for Countryside was appreciative that the park was a facility that benefitted many local people, however, it also had to be considered that the park was indeed a facility enjoyed by many visitors from across the County of Durham. Local people did enjoy the benefit of the park being close by; however, there was no evidence to suggest that any concession should be offered to local people on that basis following consultation with other local authorities.

In relation to the other issues raised, the Committee were informed that the consultation process and legal positions had been clarified and explained to the Town Council and they were satisfied with the County Council's response.

In terms of the park-run, it was highlighted that of the other park-runs that take place across the country, some were free of charge and some accrued a charge, however, the Council had come to an arrangement with park run organisers that the marshalls wouldn't have to pay for parking and a meal deal had been arranged with the café solely for the benefit of the park run.

In response to concerns about the café and its viability, there was a potential for the café to lose business but measures would be taken to offer as many incentives as possible to reduce any potential impact.

The Council had been notified that the Hardwick Park Hotel were considering the introduction of parking charges themselves and it was confirmed that the Council and Police would have to monitor the situation with regard to any cars parking on the A177.

The Committee then heard representations from a Sedgefield resident who explained that he felt it incorrect to charge people for being healthy, going to the park for a walk for their physical health and mental wellbeing. He highlighted that the presentation made by the Strategic Manager for Countryside made reference to the park as 'growing well' and suggested that the implementation of parking charges at the current time, in the present climate, would halt the growth referred to and seriously jeopardise the future of the park.

The Vice-Chairman of Sedgefield Residents Forum felt that the consultation process appeared to be flawed which had angered many local people. The forum fully accepted the reasons why the Council wished to introduce the parking charges to in terms of the upkeep and maintenance of the park and genuinely understood the reasoning behind retaining jobs, however, they felt that the proposed charges were simply too high and affected those people who used the park on a regular basis, with charges for disabled groups, minibuses and charities being a real cause for concern. The forum suggested that a good business plan could have made the park generate income without the introduction of parking charges.

A representative on behalf of Sedgefield park-run commented that the group was extremely appreciative of the concessions provided for their marshalls and recognised the issues around finance in local government generally and the fact that parking charges would generate monies required to maintain the park. The run was a national initiative with Hardwick Park being part of the park-run network. The run attracted local people and groups whilst also attracted people from across the country bringing much needed income to the local economy together with free publicity for the park. Organisers of the park run asked if the council could explore some flexibility in delaying any charges to 10.30 a.m. on Saturdays to accommodate those taking part in the run and felt that the introduction of parking fees would simply detract people from participating.

In response to the representations made at the meeting, the Strategic Manager for Countryside explained the consultation process undertaken and highlighted that the budget reduction reflected in the Council's Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), agreed the Council's Cabinet in February 2012 had to be delivered by the service. There had been queries as to why the Council could not introduce visitor charges, however, Hardwick Park was not a secure site in terms of access and it was not considered to be a feasible option and would cost a substantial amount to enforce. He recognised the issues around

fully supported the park run and the representations made at the meeting. Given some of the comments made would further explore ways to spread the cost of an annual pass and consider the delay of charge times to support Parkrun events. It was also hoped to that some arrangement could be made for schools, an NHS cycling group and other social care groups.

Councillor Stradling commented that he had a great deal of sympathy for local people and other users, including the park-run and understood local concerns, for example, to those people who used the park to walk their dogs. He queried whether every single, conceivable option had been investigated before the Committee ultimately made a decision on the proposal. The idea of a 'special offer', was good in principle, however, he queried whether consideration been given that those people who wished to take up this option may not be able to do afford to do so in terms of a one-off payment and asked for some discussion to take place to see if this could be paid in instalments by a standing order or direct debit.

Councillor D Marshall highlighted that Beamish Museum charged £16 per head per year and you could visit the museum as many times as you wanted, where parking was free. People who didn't wish to pay to park would simply park elsewhere. In effect, the Council was treating Hardwick Park differently to other attractions which would naturally be cause for complaint from users of such facilities. There would always be a desire to increase income for any business but added that a proposal with too many variables would cause problems. Councillor Marshall queried what consideration had been given to secondary spend at the site.

In response, the Strategic Manager for Countryside informed the Committee that the onsite café made a small amount of profit, but not enough to raise anywhere near the amount of savings identified in the MTFP. There was a potential to hold larger events in the future but regrettably these would not generate savings for this year.

In response to a question from Councillor Wright, the Committee were informed that charges were slightly below average compared to other parking charges across the County.

Councillor Hugill felt that the proposed charge was simply too high and a charge of £2 per day would have perhaps been more reasonable, adding that people would probably goto nearby Sedgefield for a coffee or refreshments rather than pay an additional charge for parking. Councillor Hugill also supported the representations made by the park-run organisers adding that obesity costed the National Health Service a fortune and groups that promoted health benefit should have some form of concession.

Councillor Naylor, whilst sympathetic to the debate commented that she would not wish to see a loss of jobs, whilst adding that paragraph 7 of the report outlined that the scheme would be reviewed, if implemented. Councillor Naylor commented that the Council was working to cuts across services and had no option but to implement the parking charges. It was vitally important that the Council review the scheme at a relevant opportunity, where it could make any changes if need be.

The Strategic Manager for Countryside informed the Committee that the Council were not looking to make a profit out of such charges and if the scheme made additional amounts of money, then the idea would be to look at reducing parking costs accordingly.

Resolved:

That the Committee authorise the making of the Traffic Regulation Order to introduce parking charges at Hardwick Park, detailed in the report, with charging to commence on 1 July 2012 and that the scheme be kept under review once in operation.

This page is intentionally left blank

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of **Highways Committee** held in Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on **Thursday 12 July 2012 at 10.00 am**

Present:

Councillor G Bleasdale in the Chair

Members of the Committee:

Councillors B Arthur, A Bainbridge, N Foster, D Marshall, A Naylor, P Stradling, E Tomlinson, J Turnbull, C Woods and R Young.

Apologies:

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Robinson, D Burn, D Hancock, S Hugill, J Maslin, J Shiell, T Taylor, L Thomson, R Todd and A Wright.

Also Present:

Councillors J Alvey, A Cox and J Wilkinson.

1 Declarations of interest

Councillor C Woods declared an interest in relation to Item No. 3 (Voluntary Registration, High Pittington) as a Member of Pittington Parish Council. She confirmed her intention to leave the meeting during the consideration of the item.

Councillor John Turnbull declared an interest in relation to Item No. 2 (Application to Register Land as Town or Village Green, The Green, Esh Winning) as a Member of Brandon and Byshottles Parish Council.

2 Application for Village Green Registration - The Green, Esh Winning

The Committee considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services regarding an application to register land as Town or Village Green, at The Green, Esh Winning, under the Commons Act 2006 (for copy see file of minutes).

The Planning and Development Solicitor informed the Committee that the application had been made by the Friends of Esh Winning Village Green and received in July 2009. The application was accompanied by a plan of the locality/neighbourhood, together with 83 letters in support from householders in Esh Winning. One objection had been received and subsequently withdrawn.

The application had been made under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 whereby any person could apply to the Commons Registration Authority to register land as a town or village green if a Village Green has come into existence where a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of

right in lawful sports or pastimes on the land for a period of 20 years and they continue to do so at the time of the application.

The Planning and Development Solicitor clarified that it was necessary for the applicant to demonstrate;

- general use as oppose to mere occasional use,
- that the users within the locality or neighbourhood must possess a degree of cohesiveness.
- that use "as of right" can be defined as use without permission, secrecy or by force,
- that lawful sports and pastimes could be interpreted as general recreational use, such as childrens play, games, picnics, pastimes and sports,
- that the onus is on the applicant to prove the period of use on the balance of probabilities.

From the accompanying evidence provided with the application, the Planning and Development Solicitor concluded;

- that there were a significant number of users and the majority were from the surrounding areas within a locality defined as Brandon and Byshottles,
- that there was substantial use recorded which went back as early as the 1940's and there was no suggestion that people had used it with permission of the landowner, with force or with secrecy,
- that the land had been used for recreational activities which could be broadly categorised as informal recreation and the playing of games,
- that the specific period of use would be defined as 20 years previous to the application date, this being 1989–2009, which equated to approximately three quarters of the user evidence,
- that the footpath marked on the plan could not be registered as village green as it's use as a footpath excluded it from recreational use and pastimes.

The Planning and Development Solicitor informed the Committee that the applicant had proved on the balance of probabilities that the land referred to as The Green, excluding the footpath, had been used by a significant number of people from the surrounding neighbourhood within a locality, and that it was used and continued to be used as of right, for the purpose of lawful sports and pastimes, and that there had been continuous use of the land for at least 20 years immediately preceding the date of the application.

The Chairman of the Friends of Esh Winning Village Green stated that the application had been submitted in July 2009. The grass space was left vacant purposely, for local people to enjoy when the houses were erected in the immediate area between 1948 and 1954. A play area had been erected, a travelling fayre visited annually, and there was freedom for many other pastimes. The group were of the opinion that the land was the only piece of central green space for the neighbourhood to enjoy and was therefore precious and in need of safeguarding.

Resolved:

That the area of land shown on plan 5a of the report (excluding the footpath shown shaded blue) at Appendix 1 be registered as a Town or Village Green.

3 Voluntary Registration - High Pittington

Prior to the consideration of this item, Councillor Woods withdrew from the meeting and took no part in the debate.

The Committee considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services regarding an application to register land known as The Buddle, High Pittington as Town or Village Green, under the Commons Act 2006 (for copy see file of minutes).

The Principal Planning and Development Solicitor informed the Committee that the application had been submitted by Pittington Parish Council to voluntarily register land as village green and referring to Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 whereby any person could apply to the Commons Registration Authority to have land registered as green if it had been used by local people for recreation 'as of right' for at least 20 years. Under Section 15(8) a landowner could apply to register land as village green without meeting that criteria. The village green would be subject to the same statutory protection as other registered village greens and local people would have the legal right to indulge in sports and pastimes over it on a permanent basis.

In response to concerns regarding maintenance of the land, the Principal Planning and Development Solicitor confirmed that the Parish Council would continue with the existing arrangements.

Resolved:

That the area of land edged black on the plan be registered as Village Green.

4 Village Green Registration - Land known as the Fleece and Nursery Land, West Auckland

The Committee considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services which sought the appointment of an Inspector to hold a Public Inquiry to assist in determining an application received from West Auckland Parish Council to register The Fleece and Nursery Land, West Auckland as Town or Village Green, under the Commons Act 2006 (for copy see file of minutes).

The Principal Planning and Development Solicitor referred to Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 whereby any person could apply to have land registered as village green if it had been used by local people for recreation 'as of right' for at least 20 years.

The application did contain evidence that the land had been used over a period of 20 years for activities such as football, walking dogs, children playing, community celebration, games and general recreation however, an objection had been received from an adjacent land owner. The objector claimed he had taken access across the land, grazed horses and used it freely at all different times without hindrance from any third party and he denied that any use had been undertaken on the site other than a shortcut to Front Street by dog walkers.

The Principal Planning and Development Solicitor explained, that when a conflict of evidence arised such evidence should be tested, and recommended that the appropriate

solution was to hold a non-statutory public inquiry to give all parties the opportunity to present evidence orally, to a suitably qualified Inspector. Following a Public Inquiry, the Inspector would prepare a report for the consideration together with a recommendation.

The Principal Planning and Development Solicitor informed the Committee that since the report had been circulated, the applicant had approached the objector in an attempt to reach a resolution. Ample time would be given for both parties in reaching an agreement, before appointing an Inspector to avoid unnecessary cost to the Council.

Resolved:

That a suitably qualified Inspector is appointed to hold a Public Inquiry for the purpose of receiving and assessing evidence.

Highways Committee

3 September 2012

Application for Village Green Registration Belle Vue, Consett



Report of Colette Longbottom, Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Introduction

- 1. The County Council is the registration authority for Town and Village Greens under the Commons Act 2006.
- 2. In 2009 an application to register an area of land known as Belle Vue, Consett ("the Land") as a Town or Village Green was submitted to the County Council on behalf of the Consett Green Spaces Group ("the Application").
- 3. The County Council (in its capacity as owner of the Land) objected to the Application.
- As is standard in disputed applications, the County Council appointed an independent Inspector (Mr Edwin Simpson) to hold a Public Inquiry which sat from 12th – 15th July 2010.
- 5. The Inspector recommended that the Application should be refused.
- 6. The County Council's Highways Committee resolved to refuse the Application on 11 April 2011 ("the Decision").
- 7. On 8th July 2011, Mr Stephen Malpass (a member of the Consett Green Spaces Group) applied to the High Court for permission to judicially review the Decision.
- 8. On 25th July 2012 the High Court quashed the Decision and the Application has therefore been remitted to the County Council (as registration authority) for re-determination. A copy of the judgment is attached to this report as Appendix 1 ("the High Court Judgment").

Purpose of the Report

- 9. To update members in respect of the High Court Judgment.
- 10. To set out the options considered which are available to the registration authority in re-determining the Application.

11. To seek the Highways Committee's agreement to appoint Mr Edwin Simpson to prepare a supplementary report and to make further recommendations to the Committee in respect of the Application in light of the High Court Judgment.

Update

- 12. The Application was made under s.15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 which provides that a person may apply to the commons registration authority to register land as a Town or Village green if section 15(2) applies
- 13. Section 15(2) provides that a village green has come into existence where:
 - (a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and
 - (b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.
- 14. Members will note that in order for land to be registered as a Town or Village Green, one of the criteria which must be met is that the land has been used "as of right" (i.e. use without force, secrecy or permission).
- 15. Following the Public Inquiry, the Inspector produced two reports dated 11th October 2010 and 15th February 2011. The Inspector found that due to a Deed dated 4th February 1964 made by the Urban District of Consett, the Land was subject to a statutory trust to allow the enjoyment thereof by the public and as such, the Land was used "by right" conferred under the Deed as apposed to "as of right" and as such failed the tests set out in section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006. As a result, the Inspector recommended that the Application should be refused. In justifying his recommendation, the Inspector relied upon the judgment of Lord Scott in the case of R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC 889.
- 16. The High Court found that, in the *Beresford* case, Lord Scott had not in fact reached any firm conclusions on the issues which were treated by the Inspector as being settled law in justifying his recommendation. Therefore, the Inspector's reasoning (and the Decision, being as it was based upon the reasoning and recommendations of the Inspector) must be viewed as flawed.
- 17. The High Court therefore quashed the Decision and the Application has been remitted to the County Council (as registration authority) for redetermination.

Options available to the Committee in re-determining the Application

18. It now falls to the County Council as registration authority to re-determine the Application.

- 19. In considering the options available in the re-determination of the Application I have considered the following options:
 - i) Instructing a new inspector to reconsider the whole Application.
 This option would include holding a new Public Inquiry.
 - ii) Instructing the original Inspector, Mr Simpson to reconsider the whole Application. This option would include re-convening the original Public Inquiry.
 - iii) Instructing a new Inspector to reconsider the Application and to issue a further supplementary report setting out the Inspector's conclusions in light of the findings of the High Court. This option would not involve holding another Public Inquiry.
 - iv) Instructing Mr Simpson to reconsider the Application and to issue a further supplementary report setting out his conclusions in light of the findings of the High Court. This option would not involve holding another Public Inquiry.

Discussion

- 20. I do not consider that it is proportionate or necessary to hold another Public Inquiry to re-determine the Application. Whilst the High Court Judgment is clearly fundamental to the validity of the Decision, I do not consider that it necessarily requires the re-consideration of the whole Application by way of a Public Inquiry. The issues raised by the High Court Judgment are relatively limited. In addition, the user evidence has already been considered by the Inspector and it would be disproportionate in my view to require the re-consideration of the user evidence by way of convening a further Public Inquiry. Rather, it would be more appropriate in my view to limit the reconsideration of the Application to those issues resulting from the High Court Judgment without holding another Public Inquiry.
- 21. I have also considered whether it is necessary to instruct a new Inspector to consider the re-determination of the Application. However, given that Mr Simpson has previously heard and considered the evidence from all parties, it is considered that it would be disproportionate and inefficient to instruct a new inspector in this instance, as any newly appointed inspector would have to spend considerable time familiarising his or herself with the earlier evidence.
- 22. It is intended that both the Consett Green Spaces Group and the County Council (in its capacity as landowner) will be afforded the opportunity to make further written representations to Mr Simpson prior to the preparation of his supplementary report. There will also be an opportunity for both parties to comment on Mr Simpson's draft supplementary report

prior to the supplementary report being presented to the Highways Committee.

Representations from Interested Parties

23. The Solicitors acting on behalf of both the Consett Green Spaces Group and the County Council in its capacity as owner of the Land have confirmed that they do not object to Mr Simpson being instructed to prepare a further supplementary report in light of the findings of the High Court. In addition, both interested parties raise no objection to the Application being reconsidered without a further Public Inquiry.

Recommendation:

24. For the reasons outlined in paragraphs 20 and 21 of this report it is recommended that the Committee authorise the appointment of Mr Edwin Simpson to prepare a supplementary report in light of the High Court Judgment and to make a further recommendation to members of the Highways Committee in respect of the re-determination of the Application.

Background Papers

Appendix 1: Judgment of High Court dated 25th July 2012

Contact:	Clare Cuskin	Tel:	0191 383 5644	



Neutral Citation Number: [2012] EWHC 1934 (Admin)

Case No: CO/6526/2011

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE QUEEN'S BENCH DIVISION ADMINISTRATIVE COURT AT LEEDS

Leeds Combined Court Centre,

The Courthouse,

1, Oxford Row,

Leeds LS1 3BG

Date: 25 July 2012

Before:

HHJ ROGER KAYE QC SITTING AS A JUDGE OF THE HIGH COURT

Between:

H.M.THE QUEEN (on the application of STEPHEN MALPASS)
- and THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF DURHAM

<u>Claimant</u>

Defendant

Charles George QC and Cain Ormondroyd (instructed by Irwin Mitchell LLP) for the
Claimant
George Laurence QC and Ross Crail (instructed by Durham CC) for the Defendant

Hearing dates: 16, 20 April, 25 July 2012

APPROVED JUDGMENT

I direct pursuant to CPR PD 39A, para. 6.1, PD 52 para. 5.12, that no official shorthand note or mechanical recording need be taken of this judgment and that copies of the <u>approved final version</u> as handed down may be treated as authentic.

Judge Kaye QC:

Introduction

- 1. This case concerns an area of land at Consett known as "Belle Vue Playing Fields". It is an area of open land of some 12 acres. The freehold of the vast majority of this land has been vested in the defendant council and its predecessor the Consett Urban District Council ("UDC") since 1936 by virtue of a Conveyance dated 9 May 1936¹ ("the 1936 Conveyance"). The Conveyance recited that the land was "required by the Council for purposes for which they are authorised by statute to acquire land". It is not disputed that the land has been laid out for some years for the most part as playing fields but is also used by local inhabitants for informal recreation as well as more organised sports and games.
- 2. The defendant, as owner of the land in question, proposes to build a new academy on a site contiguous with the playing fields and to fence off a large part of the fields in connection with that proposal.
- 3. The Claimant is a member of Consett Green Spaces Group ("CGSG"). He lives close to the playing fields. He and other local inhabitants formed an objection to this proposal since it would deprive them of much valued public access to the fields.
- 4. They lodged an application on 20 November 2009² to the defendant as the relevant Commons Registration Authority ("CRA")³ to register the land ("the

See Inspectors 1st Report, para. 1, fn 2 at p. 113.

Pp. 216-224 of the hearing bundle (page references are to this bundle). The greater part of the application land was first vested in Consett UDC under the 1936 Conveyance, then in Derwentside DC (following local government reorganisation in 1974) and then in the defendant since April 2009 (following a further reorganisation).

application land") as a town or village green under section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 ("the 2006 Act"). This section entitles any person to apply to the CRA to register land as a town or village green in any case where certain qualifying conditions are fulfilled. It is common ground between the parties that the relevant conditions in this case were and are those in s 15(2) namely that:

- "(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and
- (b) they continue to do so at the time of the application."
- 5. In accordance with established practice, a non-statutory public inquiry was held under the chair of Mr Edwin Simpson, a barrister much experienced in such matters. He sat from 12-15 July 2010 and heard representations from all sides and evidence in the form of deeds and documents, photographs, plans, statutory declarations, Statements of Objection, witness statements, and oral evidence (not under oath) from persons with houses neighbouring the land. Both sides were represented by counsel experienced in the relevant area of law.
- 6. The inspector produced a report dated 11 October 2010⁴. He found that although all other pre-conditions for registration of the application land as a town or village green under the 2006 Act had been met, the applicants had not satisfied the conditions under s 15(2)(a) because the playing fields had not been used "as of right" but "by right", that is to say had been used with express or implied permission and not as trespassers. This was due, he

Under the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens)(Interim Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007 (SI 457 of 2007).

Pp 113-172.

concluded, to the fact that the playing fields had been (or perhaps rather must have been) subject to a statutory trust under either s 10 Open Spaces Act 1906 ("the 1906 Act") or under s 164 Public Health Act 1875 ("the 1875 Act") as confirmed, clarified or recorded under a Deed dated 4 February 1964 ("the 1964 Deed").

- 7. As noted by the inspector, the investigation and report by the inspector is non-statutory. The inspector can make recommendations but the CRA's task is to decide the matter based on the evidence presented to it⁵.
- 8. The CGSG made further representations to the inspector. Further evidence was adduced. The defendant (as landowner) also made further representations.

 The inspector produced a second report, dated 15 February 2011⁶, adhering to his view.
- 9. On 11 April 2011 the defendant council resolved on the basis of the two reports from the inspector to refuse registration. The claimant (after a preaction protocol letter) challenged this decision by his application for judicial review lodged on 8 July 2011.
- 10. HHJ Behrens initially refused permission on 16 August 2011 but on renewal of the application, on 11 November 2011 HHJ Richardson QC (both sitting as judges of this court) granted permission to proceed on the following limited ground, namely that the decision to refuse registration took:

"... into account an immaterial consideration/error of law – in that the Deed [i.e. that dated 4 February 1964] was treated as an appropriation

⁶ Pp 173-180.

See inspector's 1st Report at para. 3, p. 114 and para. 10, p. 117.

and/or it was concluded that no appropriation was required to apply the provisions of the Open Spaces Act 1906".

- 11. That is the issue before me.
- 12. Subsequent to the defendant's decision further relevant documents came to light in the defendant's archives. This was possibly as a result of further research by or on behalf of the claimant. These additional documents first emerged as quotes on a sheet inserted in the hearing bundle by or on behalf of the claimant. That then (rightly) led to full and proper copies exhibited to a witness statement of the defendant's litigation manager. The documents exhibited, including some important Minutes of the Consett UDC and of its Allotments, Parks and Open Spaces and Cemeteries Committee, were not before the inspector. No one has taken any point about the late production of this further material.

The Facts

- 13. The vast majority of the application land in question was together with other land (in all some 44 acres) conveyed to the defendant's predecessors in title, the Consett UDC by the 1936 Conveyance. The remaining small parcels were acquired in 1922 and 1979. The argument before me has however proceeded as regards this greater part acquired in 1936.
- 14. The 1936 Conveyance, as previously noted, merely recited that the land was "required by the Council for purposes for which they are authorised by statute to acquire land". It did not state what those purposes were, or the statute under which the land was acquired. No contemporaneous evidence (such as Council minutes) exists to help fill the lacuna.

- 15. Between acquisition and the late 1950s there is some evidence that the land was filled in and used as a reclamation site⁷. Mr Charles George QC for the claimant submitted that this was tantamount to evidence that the land had not been used for the purposes of public walks or pleasure grounds as permitted by s 164 of the 1875 Act but I am inclined to think that the submission of Mr George Laurence QC for the defendant council, to the effect that this was merely preparing the land to be levelled and landscaped for use for recreational purposes as permitted under s 164 of the 1875 Act, may be the right answer to this. There is evidence⁸ that football was played on the land in the 1950s.
- 16. Just over a month after the 1936 Conveyance, a small strip of land forming (the inspector found) part of the land conveyed under the 1936 Conveyance was sold off to the North Eastern Electricity Supply Co Ltd for an electricity sub-station. I have not seen this particular Conveyance but there was before the inspector a copy of the consent granted by the Minister of Health under the Local Government Act 1933 to the transaction. Consent was needed since the land was described as vested in the Council "for purposes of public walks and pleasure grounds". That, as will be seen, is a reference to the provisions of s 164 of the Public Health Act 1875 (enabling local authorities to acquire land for use as public walks or pleasure grounds).
- 17. Also before the inspector was a further consent given by the Minister of Health on 21 November 1938 under the Housing Act 1936 to an appropriation of another parcel of land also forming part of the land acquired under the 1936

See inspector's first report, para. 43 (p. 130).

See, for example, the witness statement of Mr Green (p. 257-8).

Conveyance, this time for housing. The consent simply described the land as "vested in [the] Council".9.

- 18. On 31 March 1949, pursuant to s 163 Local Government Act 1933, consent was again given by the Minister of Health for an appropriation of a further (large) parcel of land this time for the erection of council offices. This parcel was expressed in the consent to be vested in the Council "for purposes of public walks and pleasure grounds". This parcel was not part of the application land but was included within that conveyed by the 1936 Conveyance. 10
- 19. By 1963 it appears there may have been some desire formally to record the basis on which the land was held. The new evidence adduced in the proceedings (see above) shows minutes of the Allotments, Parks and Open Spaces and Cemeteries Committee which record applications to use the land for a caravan rally¹¹ and to extend the rugby pavilion¹². Discussions were held with internal legal advisors about the provision of a "Charter". The minutes record¹³:

"It would appear that the Council is adequately covered in so far that the ... Belle Vue Grounds are held as public walks and pleasure grounds and that any variation to this use would require the consent of the Ministry of Housing and Local Government ..."

20. The upshot is that the Council eventually decided on and executed the Charter or Deed of Dedication as it was sometimes referred to in the minutes in the

Inspector's first report, para. 93 (p. 147).
Inspector's first report, para. 94 (p. 147).

Page. 92.

¹² P. 98.

¹³ P. 92.

form of the 1964 Deed. This Deed, the Council moreover decided, should be framed and displayed in the Council chamber¹⁴.

21. The deed of 4 February 1964 recited and declared as follows:

"WHEREAS there is vested in the Council for its statutory purposes certain lands short particulars of which are set forth in the Schedule hereto

AND WHEREAS the Council have been requested to put on record the purposes for which the lands are to be used and the Council have decided so to do by this Deed

NOW IT IS DECLARED that the lands and any buildings thereon which are described in the Schedule hereto are held by the Council under its statutory powers for the benefit or interest of the Public as Open Spaces for the recreation of the Public or for Public Walks Parks and Pleasure Grounds or as Public Quarries or for general use of the Public by way of provision of an Omnibus Station and as a Market as the case may be"

- 22. The Schedule to the Deed then described five plots of land as follows:
 - "(a) 1,160 Square yards of land situate and known as The Market Square Consett TOGETHER with the Buildings thereon used as an Omnibus Station
 - (b) 10 acres or thereabouts of land situate and known as Sherburn Park Consett aforesaid TOGETHER with the Buildings thereon TOGETHER ALSO with an additional 1,200 square yards TOGETHER ALSO with the Stable Workshop and other Buildings erected thereon in Back Medomsley Road Consett aforesaid
 - (c) 44 acres or thereabouts of land situate and known as Number One Consett aforesaid
 - (d) 2,570 square yards or thereabouts of land in Medomsley Road Consett aforesaid being an addition to the before mentioned lands at Number One
 - (e) Black Dyke Common Quarry Berry Edge Common Quarry West Carr House Common Quarry"
- 23. There was no issue before the inspector, and it was accepted before me that:

¹⁴ P. 102.

- the various descriptions of use in the operative parts of the 1964 Deed were to be ascribed to one or more of the five parcels of land described in the Schedule "as the case may be". Thus (a) referred to the described use as an Omnibus Station and (e) to the Public Quarries;
- the vast majority of the application land formed part of (c), the 44 acres, acquired under the 1936 Conveyance;
- the remaining small parcels did not specifically form part of either (c)
 or (d) but possibly were part of (e) (Black Dyke Common Quarry).
 Nothing of significance however turns on this;
- the references in the 1964 Deed to "Open Spaces" and "Public Walks, Parks and Pleasure Grounds" reflected the language of s 10 of the 1906 Act (prescribing that land acquired by local authorities under the Act as open space is to be held as such for use by the public for purposes of recreation) and s 164 of the 1875 Act (above).
- 24. As to evidence of user, the inspector found (indeed the defendant accepted) that the land had been sufficiently used (sufficient that is to satisfy s 15(2) of the 2006 Act) over the period of 20 years preceding the application (and moreover for a long period before the 20 year period) by members of the public for qualifying lawful sports and pastimes and informal recreation of all sorts including walking, cycling, exercising dogs, playing with children, practising for school sports, playing rounders, cricket and tennis, flying kites, having picnics, practising golf, building snowmen, sledging and playing formally organised as well as informal games such as football and rugby. The

land had he also found open and unimpeded access from all directions, and also had football pitches of various sizes laid out on it over the 20 year period (and more) for the playing of the organised games.

- 25. As to quality of user (i.e. was use by the public "as of right"), the inspector found that the grass over the whole of the application land has been regularly cut by the defendant who also put up the posts for the organised pitches and marked the white lines. Hire fees were paid for use of the pitches for adult and junior matches. The user of the organised matches was licensed, almost all at weekends with some junior training during the week. However there was only one sign, in a rather inconspicuous location (on an outside wall of a building used as a changing room) stating among other things that organised events needed the permission of the district council which the inspector did not find sufficient of itself to render user permissive¹⁵. Moreover, the defendant could not, the inspector advised, rely on communication to users that access to the land was regulated. Deferment to users of the organised pitches on occasions was not inconsistent with user as of right over the remainder of the land 16. Accordingly he advised that the use of the land by local inhabitants was not subject to any form of implied permission by reason of the defendant or its predecessors exercising control over the land.
- 26. That left the question whether nevertheless public enjoyment had been exercised by reason of some other right sufficient to render the enjoyment "by right" and not "as of right".

See 1st Report, paras. 64-65.

See 1st Report, paras. 66-73 and *R* (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland BC (No. 2) [2010] 2 AC 70 SC.

- 27. The answer to this question depended to a large extent on the purposes for which the application land was held by the local authority and on the effect of the 1964 Deed.
- 28. The inspector drew attention to two passages from the speeches in *R* (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC 889 pointing out that where land was held for recreational purposes by a local authority, the public enjoyed such use "by right" 17.
- 29. First, as Lord Scott explained it:
 - "29. Finally I should refer to section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906. Section 10 provides that:
 - "A local authority who have acquired any estate or interest in or control over any open space ... under this Act shall, subject to any conditions under which the estate, interest, or control was so acquired—
 - (a) hold and administer the open space ... in trust to allow, and with a view to, the enjoyment thereof by the public as an open space within the meaning of this Act and under proper control and regulation and for no other purpose; and
 - (b) maintain and keep the open space ... in a good and decent state ..."

"open space", as defined in section 20, includes "land ... which ... is used for purposes of recreation ..."

Section 123(2B)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 enables open space land held under a 1906 Act trust to be disposed of freed from that trust.

"30. It is, I think, accepted that if the respondent council acquired the Sports Arena "under the 1906 Act", the local inhabitants' use of the land for recreation would have been a use under the trust imposed by section 10 of the Act. The use would have been subject to regulation by the council and would not have been a use "as of right" for the purposes of class c of section 22(1) of the Commons Registration Act 1965. But Mr Petchey accepted that Mr Laurence QC was correct in contending that the Sports Arena had not been acquired "under the [1906] Act" and that

See the inspector's first report, paras. 99-100. He quoted them in reverse order.

section 10 did not, therefore, apply. Here, too, although your Lordships cannot, in view of this concession, conclude that Mr Laurence's contention is wrong, I do not, for myself regard the point as clear. Is it necessary in order for open space land to have been acquired under the Act, for it to be expressly so stated, whether in the deed of transfer or in some council minute? Attorney-General v Poole Corporation [1938] Ch 23 is interesting on this point. The open space land in question had been conveyed to Poole Corporation

"in fee simple to the intent that the same may for ever hereafter be preserved and used as an open space or as a pleasure or recreation ground for the public use."

There was no express reference in the Conveyance to the 1906 Act but the Court of Appeal thought it plain that the Act applied. Indeed counsel on both sides argued the case on the footing that that was so (see Sir Wilfrid Greene MR, at p 30). It seems to me, therefore, that the 1906 Act should not have been set to one side in the present case simply on the ground that in the documents relating to the transfer to the council no express reference to the 1906 Act can be found. It would be, in my view, an arguable proposition that if the current use of land acquired by a local authority were use for the purposes of recreation and if the land had not been purchased for some other inconsistent use and the local authority had the intention that the land should continue to be used for the purposes of recreation, the provisions of section 10 would apply (c/f counsel's argument in the Poole Corporation case, at p 27). But your Lordships cannot take the argument to a conclusion in the present case."

30. Second, Lord Walker said this:

"86. The City Council as a local authority is in relation to this land in a different position from a private landowner, however benevolent, who happens to own the site of a traditional village green. The land is held by the City Council, and was held by its predecessors, for public law purposes. A local resident who takes a walk in a park owned by a local authority might indignantly reject any suggestion that he was a trespasser unless he obtained the local authority's consent to enter. He might say that it was the community's park, and that the local authority as its legal owner was (in a loose sense) in the position of a trustee with a duty to let him in. (Indeed that is how Finnemore J put the position in Hall v Beckenham Corporation [1949] 1 KB 716, 728, which was concerned with a claim in nuisance against a local authority, the owner of a public park, in which members of the public flew noisy model aircraft). So the notion of an implied statutory licence has its attractions.

"87. After that approach had been suggested there was a further hearing of this appeal in order to consider the effect of various statutory provisions which were not referred to at the first hearing, including in particular section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906, sections 122 and 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 19 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. Where land is vested in

a local authority on a statutory trust under section 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906, inhabitants of the locality are beneficiaries of a statutory trust of a public nature, and it would be very difficult to regard those who use the park or other open space as trespassers (even if that expression is toned down to tolerated trespassers). The position would be the same if there were no statutory trust in the strict sense, but land had been appropriated for the purpose of public recreation."

- 31. As to the 1964 Deed, in his reports the inspector conducted a careful and detailed analysis of its provisions, terms and effect and events leading up to it. His conclusions and reasoning (drawing from both his reports) was largely as follows:
 - that the application land consisted almost entirely of land which was the subject-matter of the 1936 Conveyance and that paragraph (c) of the Schedule to the 1964 Deed related to such land;
 - that although there was circumstantial evidence (e.g. the use of the land, the ministerial consents especially that given in 1936 recording that the land conveyed for the electricity supply station was included in the land conveyed by the 1936 Conveyance and was held by the local authority "for purposes of public walks and pleasure grounds", and the 1964 Deed itself) supporting the proposition that the application land was held and acquired for public recreation, nevertheless it did not follow that the whole of the application land was held from acquisition for the purpose of public walks or pleasure grounds but it was possible. Crucially, he was not however able to reach a conclusion on the balance of probabilities as to what purpose the land was held for prior to the 1964 Deed 18:

See for example, para. 8 of his second report (p. 175).

- That surrounding evidence was circumstantially entirely consistent with acquisition under either s 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906 or s 164 of the Public Health Act 1875;
- relying on the above dicta of Lord Walker and Lord Scott in *R* (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council (above) and other case law and after a detailed study of a plethora of local government legislation dealing with local authority holding of land for various public uses, he concluded that,
 - a) although the 1964 Deed was "not the most straightforward document to interpret" where land had been appropriated "for the purpose of public recreation" this was enough to render use "by right" rather than "as of right" (and so entitle the CRA to refuse registration) [my emphasis]¹⁹;
 - b) whether the land was acquired under s 10 of the Open Spaces

 Act 1906 or s 164 of the Public Health Act 1875 it did not

 matter; both were sufficient to render use of the application land

 as "by right" (since the recognised effect of both species of
 legislation was to require the local authority to hold the land on

 an implied statutory trust to allow the public to use and have

 access to the land for public recreation);
 - c) for open space land to have been acquired under the 1906 Act it may not be necessary for it to be expressly so stated in the conveyance or transfer;

See first Report, paras. 112-113, 116, 117.

d)

- where land was held under either the 1906 Act or the 1875 Act it was possible to effect an informal appropriation of land for purposes which were not inconsistent with the terms of the original acquisition and which appropriation accordingly did not need to comply with the mechanisms of ss 122(2A) and (2B) and 123(2A) and (2B) of the Local Government Act 1972 which applied where the authority wished to appropriate land it already held for public purposes for an entirely different inconsistent purpose and freed the land, on fulfilment of the statutory requirements, from the statutory trusts arising under s 10 or s 164 as the case might be;
- The motivation, he thought, behind the 1964 Deed was to make the position clear²⁰. Looking at the background, context and language of the 1964 Deed the inspector concluded that the purpose and effect of the 1964 Deed was either
 - a) to record, clarify or confirm the position then known or assumed, namely that the application land was held under either the 1906 Act or the 1875 Act or
 - b) to declare and effect just such an informal appropriation of land for purposes which were not inconsistent with the terms of the original acquisition or the then use of the land and accordingly did not need to comply with the formal statutory mechanisms of ss 122(2B) and 123(2B) of the Local Government Act 1972;

²⁰ Second report, paras. 11, 15 (pp. 176, 178).

- in short, by this Deed the local authority was recording, clarifying, confirming or declaring that it held almost all the application land for the benefit of the public as open spaces for the recreation of the public or for public walks, parks and pleasure grounds under s 10 of the 1906 Act and s 164 of the 1875 Act; accordingly the public had not used the application land in the relevant period prior to the application for registration "as of right" but "by right" under the statutory trust of a public nature affecting the application land²¹;
- for these reasons he recommended registration should be refused.
- 32. Following the inspector's first report, both sides took the opportunity of making further representations leading to the second report in February 2011. Following this second report (in which the inspector maintained his view), the defendant's Head of Legal and Democratic Services recommended to the Highways Committee (the relevant council committee) that his advice and recommendations be followed resulting in the CRA refusing the application for the reasons set out in the report (of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services), in turn based on the inspector's reports.

The New Evidence

33. As previously mentioned new evidence²² was adduced comprising further Minutes of meetings of the Consett UDC's Allotments, Parks and Open Spaces and Cemeteries Committee between September 1963 and February

See paras 118, 125 of the first report.

See pp. 79-108.

1964, especially those of 10 September and 10 December 1963. Two matters are relied on, particularly by the defendant in this new evidence:

- First, they show responsibility for the application land being administered and managed by and under the relevant committee dealing with parks and open spaces (the Allotments, Parks and Open Spaces and Cemeteries Committee of Consett UDC this evidence at least appears to have been before the inspector²³);
- Second, the 1963/64 minutes themselves described the Belle Vue Grounds as "held as public walks and pleasure grounds" (see above).

The Submissions of Mr George QC

- 34. I was much assisted by Mr Charles George QC on behalf of the claimant who guided me through a complex web and plethora of local government legislation and law.
- 35. His principal submissions, in outline, may be summarised as follows:
 - The defendant's decision was based ultimately on the inspector's reports and recommendations;
 - Those recommendations (for refusal) were legally flawed and accordingly vitiated the defendant's decision;
 - The court should not substitute its own decision or its own reasons for that of the decision maker.

See second report, para. 9 (p. 176).

- 36. In *R* (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council (above), Lord Scott, Mr George pointed out, advanced the following proposition (at the end of the passage cited above):
 - "It would be, in my view, an arguable proposition that if the current use of land acquired by a local authority were use for the purposes of recreation and if the land had not been purchased for some other inconsistent use and the local authority had the intention that the land should continue to be used for the purposes of recreation, the provisions of section 10 [of the Open Spaces Act 1906] would apply"
- 37. Mr George argued that this "arguable proposition" (which, no doubt for shorthand reasons, was referred to as "the Scott test") was central to the inspector's reasoning, conclusions and recommendations but it was supported by no other of their Lordships, and, it seems, was propounded without the benefit of argument.
- 38. It was central, submitted Mr George, because the Scott test founded support for the inspector's proposition that where land was not held by a local authority for a purpose inconsistent with that proposed, it needed no formal appropriation process to achieve that purpose. Thus, since the 1964 Deed was (as a matter of logic) incapable of confirming something which the inspector had not found established on the balance of probabilities (namely that the land was acquired or used for the purposes of the 1875 Act or 1906 Act even if "in practice" ²⁴ it was being held for a not inconsistent purpose) it can only have been intended to declare that the application land was henceforth held for the public for recreational purposes.
- 39. That was legally flawed because:

Para. 11 of the inspector's second report.

- Local authorities are creatures of statute and their powers to acquire, hold and use land are governed as such by statute. None of the relevant statutory framework refers to "inconsistent" use, still less "non inconsistent" use;
- The 1964 Deed assumed its importance precisely because it was unclear on what basis the application land was held before the Deed as the inspector duly noted; thus the Deed could not have "confirmed" anything and insofar as it sought to do so, was irrelevant and of no legal effect. Local authorities had no power to make a determination that land was to be used for a particular purpose and the 1964 Deed did not even appear to do so.
- The reasoning that the 1964 Deed amounted in substance to an informal process of appropriation of the application land to public use was plainly based on the Scott test, i.e. that no formal process was required;
- It was insufficient merely to state that the land was "in practice" held for a purpose which was not inconsistent with the new, informally appropriated, purpose. To be a valid appropriation to the stated use, the local authority must have concluded that the land subject to the appropriation was "not required" for its existing purposes (see Local Government Act 1933, ss 163, 165). No such conclusion is recorded in the 1964 Deed or elsewhere nor does the 1964 Deed declare it was appropriating the land to a different purpose. Moreover, to take effect as an appropriation from one use to another the formal statutory

mechanisms of the Local Government Act 1933 needed to be complied with and ministerial approval (at that time) was needed. It was apparent none of the formalities had been observed. All this is unsurprising given the inspector was relying on and treating the 1964 Deed as an informal process.

- Thus, it was argued the 1964 Deed was simply of no legal effect at all. That being so, and it being unclear for what purpose the application land was held by the defendant council the only legitimate conclusion was that the CRA had erred in law in refusing the application (since the applicants must thereby have established their user was "as of right" not "by right" and so within s 15 of the 2006 Act).
- Accordingly the court should quash the refusal decision of the CRA,
 order the defendant to register the application land under the 2006 Act
 or else, at worst, the matter should be remitted for a fresh consideration.

The Submissions of Mr Laurence QC

- 40. Mr George Laurence QC for the defendant does not seek to support or uphold the Scott test, at least at this level. Instead his principal submissions were as follows:
 - That even if the court came to the conclusion the decision to refuse registration was due to some error of law, being a decision of an authority and not of a court or tribunal, this court cannot substitute its own decision but only remit the matter: see s 31 (5) and (5A) Senior

Courts Act 1981 as amended by the Tribunals Courts and Enforcement Act 2007.

- That the totality of the evidence, together with the new evidence strongly suggests the application land was acquired under the 1875 Act and was lawfully used for public purposes sufficient to prevent the acquisition of the right to registration under the 2006 Act:
 - a) The new evidence is entirely consistent with the "circumstantial" evidence noted by the inspector that it was possible (even if not probable) that the application land had been acquired under the 1875 Act and was being lawfully used for the purposes of public recreation;
 - b) the 1936 ministerial consent (recording the land was held "for purposes of public walks and pleasure grounds") must have been given under s 165 Local Government Act 1933 (repealed in 1974) then requiring ministerial consent for the disposal of land no longer required for the purpose for which it was acquired or was being used.
 - c) Accordingly, since the land being disposed under that consent (the electricity sub-station) had been part of the land conveyed by the 1936 Conveyance that was a very strong pointer towards the whole of the land thereby conveyed (including most of the application land) having been acquired under s 164 of the 1875 Act.

- d) The 1949 ministerial consent for the appropriation of land for council offices was necessary also but under s 163 of the Local Government Act 1933 requiring ministerial approval where land held by a local authority was appropriated from one use to another, different, use (see above).
- e) Having regard to that and all the surrounding evidence (including the new evidence) and absent any evidence to the contrary it ought to be inferred and can be safely inferred that the application land (being part of for the most part that conveyed by the 1936 Conveyance) was also acquired under the 1875 Act. There is no evidence, for example, suggesting that part of the 1936 Conveyance land was acquired under one statute and part under another.
- f) All this is entirely consistent with the new evidence (the Council minutes) as showing that the defendant's predecessors, having consulted the lawyers, were advised the land was held (in substance) under the 1875 Act and therefore needed ministerial consent if there was to be any "variation" of that use.
- g) On that basis the 1964 Deed can be readily understood. It was merely a reflection or confirmation of what everyone knew or understood at the time. It is not a case of appropriation at all. It did not, as the inspector suggested, need a fresh dedication or appropriation. It merely confirmed the status quo.

- h) A local authority had power to dedicate its land for the use of public recreation: *R v Doncaster MBC(ex p Braim)* (1986) 57

 P&CR 1 (though he conceded in view of the doubts expressed by McCullough J in that case whether "dedication" was the right word).
- i) On that basis the decision should not be quashed and there would be no point in remitting the matter for further consideration: the result would still be the same: refusal of registration.
- Alternatively, if the 1964 Deed operated as an appropriation:
 - a) It was tantamount to a record of a decision by the local authority to hold the land on the statutory trust for public recreation;
 - b) If the land was not held for an inconsistent purpose already there would be no requirement for the statutory formalities attendant on freeing the land from the statutory trusts for public recreation;
 - c) In any event it is now, after over 40 years since the Deed far too late to mount an *ultra vires* challenge to the Deed;
 - d) Accordingly there was no error of law in saying that the 1964

 Deed subjected the application land to the statutory trusts,

 whether or not that entailed an appropriation. Such a

 proposition does not depend on the Scott test.

The so-called Scott test was not central to the inspector's reasoning and
in any event the new evidence shows the land was held under the 1875
 Act. Hence the Scott test (or Lord Scott's arguable proposition) can
safely be put on one side.

Discussion

- 41. For present purposes it is common ground that
 - Despite the absence of some clear and unequivocal evidence spelling out under what authority the application land was acquired or held, it was and is proper to assume the acquisition and holding was lawful provided the use to which the land is put is permitted by some appropriate enabling legislation (see, for example, *Attorney-General v Poole Corporation* [1938] Ch 23 cited above by Lord Scott);
 - In the absence of some formal or lawful appropriation, once acquired for one purpose, the local authority cannot (absent some temporary use or not inconsistent use) use the land for some other purpose;
 - if the application land had indeed been held for the purposes of s 10 of the Open Spaces Act 1906 or under s 164 of the Public Health Act 1875, then the land was held on statutory trusts for public recreation resulting in the public's use of the land being by right and not "as of right" and in those circumstances the CRA would have been correct in refusing registration;
 - the 1936 Conveyance did not adequately state under what power or authority the relevant land was acquired or held;

- e leaving aside the 1964 Deed, there is no evidence of any express appropriation of the land for recreational purposes under either the 1906 or 1875 Acts, or for that matter any other Act.
- Although Mr Laurence helpfully described the case as "straightforward" and Mr George equally helpfully described it as "very very simple", despite the patience and helpfulness of both counsel I confess to finding this neither straightforward nor simple largely because whilst I found Mr George's legal submissions and reasoning compelling in that, taken step by step, the inspector's reasoning based as it was on the Scott test or proposition leading him to the conclusion that the 1964 Deed could amount to an informal, but lawful, recognition or appropriation of the land for public purposes was legally flawed, I equally found Mr Laurence's submissions on the evidence, particularly the effect of the 1963/64 minutes, also quite compelling.
- 43. Mr Laurence disavowed reliance on the Scott test. He also sought to persuade me that the inspector's reasoning did not depend upon it. I accept that there are passages in the inspector's report which appear to suggest he did not place exclusive reliance on this proposition but in the key part of his report justifying the informal appropriation by the 1964 Deed it is, as it seems to me, inescapable that he was at the very least heavily influenced by this proposition which Lord Scott himself (see the longer quoted passage) expressly left open.
- 44. That being so, in my judgment the decision of the CRA, based as it ultimately was, on the reasoning and recommendations of the inspector, must be viewed as flawed sufficient to justify quashing the decision for the reasons advanced by Mr George (which is why I have set them out fully above). Equally I am

not persuaded by Mr Laurence's alternative argument based on informal appropriation. This depended on a finding that the land was not acquired or held for an inconsistent purpose, something the inspector seems to have assumed ("in practice") rather than found as a fact (or in law). Reliance on Doncaster does not assist for there the assumption that the local authority could dedicate the land to public use was a concession made by both sides and was not fully argued (see p. 8 of the report).

As I have said above I found this evidence for my part, quite compelling. Had the inspector had those minutes before him he might just, having regard to that and all the other evidence, have moved from findings of possibility (that the land had been acquired under s 164 of the 1875 Act) to findings of probability (that it had). On that basis he might then have gone on to recommend refusal because the land in question was and had always been held for the purposes of s 164 of the 1875 Act. Despite that, I accept Mr Laurence's submission that I can not or ought not to substitute my own decision and order the defendant to allow (or for that matter to refuse) the registration under the 2006 Act. That would, in my view, be to usurp the function of both the inspector and the CRA.

Conclusion

46. Accordingly, however unsatisfactory the result may be to all, it seems to me that I should remit the matter to the defendant to consider how, in light of this judgment, and in light of the further evidence, it wishes to proceed in considering the matter afresh.

47. Finally I repeat my appreciation of the assistance I have had from counsel and only regret, owing to pressure of other cases, the matter has taken as long as it has. I am grateful for everyone's patience.

Highways Committee

3rd September 2012





Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director, Regeneration and Economic Development

Councillor Neil Foster, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Economic Development

Purpose of the Report

To consider objections received in relation to the proposed erection of a bus shelter outside 10 Foster Terrace, Croxdale. Having considered the objections, the Committee are recommended to endorse the proposal.

Background

- 1. The local member has received requests from residents of Croxdale for a bus shelter to be provided at the bus stop outside 10 Foster Terrace, Croxdale.
- 2. There is one main bus service utilising this bus stop, the service runs 4 buses per hour during Monday to Saturday daytime.
- 3. The proposed shelter will be provided and maintained by Durham County Council.

Proposal

4. To erect a fully glazed bus shelter with perch seat at the bus stop outside 10 Foster Terrace, Croxdale. (See Appendix 2)

Consultation

- 5. All 18 properties on Foster Terrace, Croxdale have been consulted on the proposal.
- 6. Local members, Councillors Mac Williams and Jan Blakey, have also been consulted and appraised of the matter and are fully supportive of the proposal.
- 7. There was only one response from a resident who objected on a number of points, details of the objections are below.

8. Objection 1:

The objector feels the proposed shelter will ruin the views from his window and diminish the natural light.

Response: The proposed shelter is of a design that will have as little visual impact as possible, whilst still affording the local community protection from the elements when waiting for a bus. It is a black aluminium framed, fully glazed bus shelter with a clear polycarbonate barrelled roof.

The shelter is also being sited as close to the boundary between numbers 9 and 10 Foster Terrace as possible to lessen its impact. There is no other suitable location available at this bus stop without completely re-engineering the area.

9. Objection 2:

The objector states access to their property will be restricted.

Response: A survey was carried out to ascertain if it was possible to provide a bus shelter at the bus stop without compromising safety or creating access issues. The results of the survey have shown that a shelter can be provided without contravening any access or DDA guidelines.

10. Objection 3:

The objector feels the provision of a bus shelter will devalue their house.

Response: Claims of devaluation of a property are unsubstantiated. The provision of a bus shelter will be seen as a valuable asset for a bus user.

11. Objection 4:

The Objector states the proposed bus shelter is the only one directly outside a residential location in Croxdale.

Response: Many bus shelters throughout the county are situated outside of residential households, the bus shelter immediately before the proposed on this route (4 Rogerson Terrace, Croxdale) is one such shelter.

12. Objection 5:

The objector has questioned the need for a bus shelter.

Response: A bus shelter has been proposed at this particular stop as a result of requests made to the Local Members by local residents.

The bus operator has confirmed that the bus stop is used quite frequently.

The provision of a bus shelter enhances the waiting environment for passengers and encourages the use of public transport.

Recommendations and reasons

13. It is **RECOMMENDED** that

14. The Committee endorses the proposal to set aside the objections and proceed with the installation of the bus shelter.

Contact: Tony Leckenby Tel: 03000 263 745

Appendix 1: Implications

Finance

The scheme to be funded from the Local Transport Plan Bus Stop Infrastructure Budget.

Staffing

None

Risk

Decision is such that a full risk assessment is not required. Any risk is detailed within the report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty

The shelter will improve the waiting environment for all intending passengers.

Accommodation

None

Crime and Disorder

While some bus shelters can attract anti social behaviour, the proposed bus shelter is designed in such a way to discourage such issues.

Human Rights

None

Consultation

As detailed in the report

Procurement

The shelter will be provided under an existing contract for bus shelter provision secured under the County Councils procurement procedure.

Disability Issues

The design of the shelter is as such that it will conform to DDA requirements where applicable.

Legal Implications

None

Appendix 2:

Photographs

Ph1 – Existing area at Foster Terrace, Croxdale (A)

Ph2 – Existing area at Foster Terrace, Croxdale (B)

Ph3 – Existing area at Foster Terrace, Croxdale (C)

Ph4 – Existing bus shelter at Rogerson Terrace, Croxdale

Ph5 – Shelter Style/Type proposed for Foster Terrace, Croxdale

Plans

PL1 – Detail Plan showing proposed location of the bus shelter











